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Preparer's Eligibility Recommendation: i 2(__ Eligibility recommended ~ Eligibility not recommended
Criteria; X A B XcC D Considerations: A B C D E F G
Complete if the property is a contributing or non-contributing resource to a NR district/property:
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Description of Property and Justification:  (Please attach map and photo)

Architectural Description:

St. Francis de Sales Church and cemetery, located at 1450 Abingdon Road, Abingdon, Harford County, Maryland, is located on a
16.32-acre tract on the west side of Abingdon Road. The church is a two-story, circa-1866, stone, Romanesque Revival church
building situated on the crest of a hill overlooking the east side of the road. A paved asphalt semicircular driveway is located to the
east of the building, which is oriented on an east-west axis. A modern residential development is located to the east of the church.

The stone church is laid in coursed fieldstone. A steeply pitched, side-gabled roof, sheathed in slate shingles, caps the original
block (nave) of the building. Arched windows, capped with rounded sandstone lintels, light the interior. The main entry is located
in a projecting entrance vestibule that occupies the center bay of the east (front) elevation. The entry consists of a set of double-
leaf, four-paneled, wooden, arched doors. A four-story, square, stone, bell tower, added in 1887, is located on the southeast
corner. An exterior stone chimney is located on the north elevation of the main block.

The west elevation features a centrally located, round, two-and-a-half-story, stone tower with a hexagonal roof and a single window
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in the ground story. A two-story, stone wing flanks each side of the tower to the north and south. The north and south ends of the
ings feature 12-over-12 light, double-hung sash, wooden windows with round sandstone arches. The west side windows are two-
over-two light, double-hung sash, wooden windows with straight sandstone lintels.

The associated cemetery is located immediately to the north of the stone church. The cemetery dates to approximately the 1870s, as
the earliest burial appears to be circa 1874. The gravestones are relatively simple granite and marble rounded markers measuring
approximately two feet high. The cemetery also contains flat stones set into the ground. The dates of burial range from the late-
nineteenth century to the present day.

A modern church complex (worship center) sits to the southwest of the church building, and a modern religious education center
(Kilduff Hall) is located to the northwest. A long paved asphalt driveway leads to a paved asphalt parking lot situated to the west
(rear) of the church building. Overall, the building stands in good condition. (For a more detailed architectural description, see the
Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties Form, HA-1312, on file at the Maryland Historical Trust, Crownsville, Maryland).

Historical Narrative:
The following comes from The Church on the Hill, published in 1992 by St. Francis de Sales Church, except where noted.

Prior to the erection of St. Francis de Sales Church, local Catholics attended Mass at St. Ignatius, located nine miles to the north.
By 1864, priests visited the Abingdon area at least once a month to celebrate Mass; services were held in the home of an Abingdon
couple, Mr. and Mrs. Delmas.

In 1865, William Pannell, owner of the Harford Furnace Ironworks near Creswell and a non-Catholic, gave four acres in Abingdon
for the site of St. Francis de Sales Church. The cornerstone of the church was laid on July 12, 1866, and the building was erected
using local stone that had been dug up from nearby corn and bean fields. On December 25, 1866, the first Mass was held at St.
Francis de Sales, which then only accommodated 100 people.

1 1879, the parish, which was then under the parentage of St. Stephen Church in Bradshaw, added a rectory to the grounds in order
0 provide overnight housing to the priests who traveled to and from Abingdon. The rectory was vacated in 1960, after which it
was eventually torn down.

In 1880, the square, stone, bell tower was added. The stone used to erect the tower was transported from the nearby Harford
Furnace by horse and wagon. A decade later, in 1900, the stained-glass windows were added to the main block of the church. In
1938, the building was expanded a third time to accommodate a confessional to the front of the church and furbished with three
stained-glass windows.

In 1964, after 98 years as a mission church, first to St. [gnatius and then to St. Stephen, St. Francis de Sales was raised to the status
of a parish. The Reverend Maurice J. Wolfe was appointed the first pastor. In 1967, the parish purchased five additional acres
expanding the property to its current dimensions of 16.5 acres. On November 7, 1971, the parish opened its new worship center
and rectory, located to the southwest of the stone church. With the opening of the new worship center, the stone church was only
utilized for smaller services, such as weddings and Lenten worship.

However, this new worship center soon felt the weight of over crowdedness with the average of two families joining the Abingdon
parish each week. The parish set forth plans to build another new church building with twice the capacity of the existing space. In
1992, the parish opened a new church building, one-story in height with the capability for expansion, located adjacent to the
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southeast corner of the stone church, New sidewalks and parish roads were resurfaced to accommodate the new church building.

Romanesque Revival Church Buildings (1840-1900)

Prior to the mid-nineteenth century, Greek Revival was the most common architectural style for public buildings. However, even as
the Greek Revival style flourished, American Christians became attracted to the picturesque quality of the churches of the Middle
Ages. Thus, beginning in 1840, the self-contained, horizontal, monumental, static mass of the Greek Revival temple church gave
way to the irregular, vertical, picturesque, and lively forms of the Romanesque Revival style. Romanesque Revival became the
favored architectural style for American churches throughout the next 60 years and eventually expanded to major public and
commercial buildings.

The Romanesque Revival style is characterized by masonry construction and the general use of the semi-circular arch for all
window and door openings. Asymmetrical organization in both plan and style is common. The Romanesque Revival style typically
exhibits a heavy, fortress-like form.

Statement of Significance:

St. Francis de Sales Church located at 1450 Abingdon Road, Abingdon, Harford County, Maryland is eligible for listing in the
National Register of Historic Places under Criterion Consideration A for Religious Properties for its local significance as the first
Catholic Church in Abingdon. The distinctive collection of additions that have accrued to form the present structure reflects the
growth of St. Francis de Sales Church from a mission church to a parish. The church also retains sufficient architectural integrity to
reflect its period of historical significance (1866-1938) to deem it eligible for listing in the National Register under Criterion C in
the area of architecture.

The quality of significance in American history, architecture, archeology, engineering, and culture is present in districts, sites,
buildings, structures, and objects that possess integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association,
and:

" . that are associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history: or

o, that are associated with the lives of significant persons in our past;

C. that embody the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction, or that represent the work of a master, or
that possess high artistic values, or that represent a significant and distinguishable entity whose components may lack individual
distinction; or

D. that have yielded or may be likely to yield information important in history or prehistory.

St. Francis de Sales Church located at 1450 Abingdon Road is eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places under
Criterion A. National Register Criteria Consideration A for Religious Properties states: "A religious property is eligible if it derives
its primary significance from architectural or artistic distinction or historical importance" (NPS 1997: 26). St. Francis de Sales
Church was the first Catholic Church in Abingdon in the State of Maryland, which is known historically as a Catholic stronghold.
Despite a few years of decline in the number of parishioners, the church largely experienced continual growth throughout its period
of significance (1866-1938). Thus, the distinctive collection of additions that have accrued to form the present structure reflects the
growth of St. Francis de Sales Church from a mission church to a parish.

St. Francis de Sales Church is not eligible under Criterion B, as it has no known association with the lives of individuals of
historical importance. In addition, the cemetery does not contain the graves of any persons of transcendent importance.
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__St. Francis de Sales Church is eligible under Criterion C as it embodies the distinctive characteristics of a stone church building
»rm including retention of integrity of design, materials, and workmanship. The original rectangular nave of the church building
remains visible despite the additions to the east and west elevations, both of which have achieved significance. The design
emphasis of the building is placed on the stained-glass windows, main entrance, and towers (bell tower and hexagonal tower). The
building also retains its historic front-gabled orientation as it faces east towards Abingdon Road.

The property was not evaluated for eligibility under Criterion D as part of the current investigation.
[ntegrity:

St. Francis de Sales Church retains sufficient integrity from the period of significance (1866-1938) to deem it eligible for listing in
the National Register. The original rectilinear footprint has been not been concealed through additions and alterations; these
additions and expansions culminate to support the building’s eligibility. The building also retains integrity of materials and
workmanship through the retention of the fieldstone walls and roof. However, integrity of location and setting has been
compromised through the construction of the 1992 church buildings located immediately to the southwest and northwest of the
stone church. In addition, modern residential development has compromised the once pastoral setting of the church building,
therefore further detracting from integrity of setting. The church building still reflects its use as a church, even though Mass is no
longer held inside the historic building; therefore, the building retains integrity of association and feeling.
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St. Francis de Sales Church
1450 Abingdon Road
Abingdon, Maryland 21009

This Romanesque church, while not of exceptional style in Har-
ford County, is exceptionally picturesque. The pastoral site
on the crest of the hill above Abingdon, the blond stone and
striking silhouette, the fine detailing like the round sandstone
arches, have inspired more than one passing photographer and
painter. The two towers - the rounded one with its two wings
on the west and the square bell tower on the southeast - are
particularly handsome.

The distinctive collection of shapes that have accrued to
form the present structure reflects the expansion of St. Francis
de Sales Church from a mission church to a parish. The church
was built in 1866 on land given by William Pannell, owner of the
Harford Furnace Ironworks and a non - Catholic. The bell tower
was added in 1887 and the confessional in 1938. In 1964, after
98 years as a mission church, first to St. Ignatius and then
to St. Stephen, St. Francis was raised to the status of a
parish.
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DESCRIPTION s

CONDITION CHECK ONE CHECK ONE
/A EXCELLENT __DETERIORATED —_UNALTERED ) \ORIGINAL SITE
__GOOD __RUINS Z ALTERED __MOVED DATE
__FAIR __UNEXPOSED

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

This stone church laid in coursed fieldstone and c-nstructed in at least three
phzses is located on the west side of “bingdon Road, north of the 0ld Post 20ad (Md.
Rte. 7).

The church of essentially cruciform vlan faces east: the original gable-roofed
portion, co-structed in 1866, is three bays long, with a sguare tower added in 1887
at its southgast corner, flanked on the north by a projecting entrance vestibule and
confessisnal,pf the gible-rosfed section is a rounded tower with flanking wings.

The mzin-or oldest-portion of the church (i.e. the nave) has three r~und-arched
stained glzss windows with stone arches =nd projecting sills on each side. 4An exterior
stone chimney is on the north side, and windows to light the balcony are in the eas+
ends This end h=zs a false vpediment with z flared eave on the north; the gable roof it-
self has a wide overhand.

On the east end, the entrance porch has flzred eaves, paralleling the roof line,
=nd contains 2 round-arched, double-leaf door with four panels in each leaf. The one=-
room cnonfessional to the north and set bacl: slightly contains two windowse

The tower is four stories with stone string courses marking off the unevenly-
snaced levels. There are windows in the second story west side =znd the third story
south side. An arcade of arches-two on each side-marks where the bell is hung, and
the tower has a2 crenellated cap, from which rises a peaked roof surmounted by a cross.

On the west, the central r-und tower has a hexagonal roof and a single window
in the gr~und story. “ach of the flanking wings h=zs a gesble roof znd one window in
both stories of each side. Z=nd windows in the first story have 12/12 sash and round
stone arches. Those on the west side have 2/2 sash and flat stone lintels. In the
ground story of the south end is =an entrance.

On the interior, the balcony is in “he east end, =nd the chancel 'dith a round
ceiling window is in the west end. The nave has a verticzl board wainscot.

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY



E) SIGNIFICANCE
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—1600-1699 Y\\ARCHITECTURE —EDUCATION —MILITARY —SOCIAL/HUMANITARIAN
—1700-1799 —ART _ENGINEERING —Music —THEATER
X1800-1899 —COMMERCE __EXPLORATION/SETTLEMENT  __PHILOSOPHY —TRANSPORTATION
—1900- —COMMUNICATIONS —INDUSTRY —.POLITICS/GOVERNMENT —OTHER (SPECIFY)
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SPECIFIC DATES BUILDER/ARCHITECT

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

There is slmost no information sbout Catholic activity in Abingdon until the
latter pzrt of ths 19th century. In 1865, !illi=m Puannell, who was owner of the
“ariord Turnnce Ironworks near Creswell and a non-Catholic, gave four acres in Abingdon
for the site of 3t. Trancis Church. The cornerstone of the present church was 1aid on
July 9, 1866.

Srior to that, in 1864 ~nd 1865, lMass had been offered in the wrivate residence
of the Delmas family in .\bingdon township.

Jev. Patrick Francis O'Connor, 2lso a pastor at 3t. Ignatius Church in Hickory,
initiated the construction of this church, and Mr. George Lochary, a parishioner of
3t, Ignatius supervised it. In 1873, St. Francis' Church was transferred from the
custody of the Pastor at St. Ignatius to the pastor of 5t. “tephens, 3radshaw, =2nd
‘nther Yerard Myssen became its pastor. It wasn't until March 27, 1887, 21 years after
the first Mass, that the church was dedic-ted by the Rev. Luigi “artori of It. Gtephens
Churche.

At th=t time, a bell tower was a’ded to the church using stone quarried from Harford
Turn=cez. The confecsional was added by Father Fitzge ald in 1938.

Tn 196k, after 98 years as a nmission church, first to 3t. Ignatius znd then to
st, Ttevhen, 3t. “rancis was reised to the status of a parish, and the ev. Haurice
J. ‘olfe was appointed the first pastor. Lo

This Romanesque church, while not of exceptional style'
ally picturesiue. The vastoral site on the crest of the hill, the blond stone and strik-
ing silhouette, the fine detailing like the round sandstone arches, have inspired more
‘V: n

the area, is exception-

than one passing photogravher and painter. The two towers-the rounded one with its

two vings on the west, and the sqguare bell tower on the southeast=are particularly
handsome, -he distinctive collection of chapes that have secrued to form the present

structure reflects the expansion of St. Francis de Sales Church from a mission church to

2 parishe.
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The Maryland Historic Sites Inventory was officially created
by an Act of the Maryland Legislature, to be found in the
Annotated Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 KA,

1974 Supplement.

The Survey and Inventory are being prepared for information
and record purposes only and do not constitute any infringe-
ment of individual property rights.
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